THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANDREW M. STEELE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable James R. Orlando

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH M. HROBSKY
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Andrew Steele's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when it admitted his statements elicited by police officers during a custodial interrogation prior to advisement of his *Miranda*¹ rights, as well as his tainted post-warning statement.

2. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 9.

3. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 11.

4. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 13.

5. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 14.

6. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 1.

7. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 2.

¹*Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

8. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 3.

9. The trial court abused its discretion when it categorically refused to consider Mr. Steele's request for a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA).

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination prohibits admission of a suspect's statements elicited during a custodial interrogation, in the absence of evidence the suspect was advised of his *Miranda* rights, and he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived those rights. A suspect is subject to custodial interrogation when his freedom of action is curtailed in any significant way and he is subject to express or implicit questioning by a state agent. Here, Mr. Steele agreed to meet a detective in a store parking lot, but the detective arrived with a second officer, he arranged for several marked patrol cars to be in the parking lot, and he informed Mr. Steele that finding a police officer's stolen firearm was a priority. Mr. Steele was searched for weapons prior to getting into an unmarked patrol car and driven to a location where he stated he had last seen the firearm, during which time the detective questioned him, and he remained in the patrol car accompanied by one

officer “at all times” while the other officer unsuccessfully searched for the firearm. Mr. Steele was then taken to the police station, advised of his *Miranda* rights for the first time, whereupon he gave a formal statement. Under these circumstances, did the trial court err in admitting Mr. Steele’s pre-warning statements and post-warning formal statement against him at trial? (Assignments of Error 1-8)

2. A sentencing court abuses its discretion when it categorically refuses to consider a DOSA for an eligible offender. Did the court here abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Steele’s request for a DOSA, on the grounds it categorically refused to consider a DOSA for any defendant with an offender score above ‘9’? (Assignment of Error 9)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening of December 28, 2011, Officer Joshua Deroche’s truck was broken into and a backpack containing his uniform, badge, ammunition, and a personal firearm was taken. RP 106, 107, 108-09, 113. The following day, Detective Stuart Hoisington received a telephone call from James Baldwin who reported that Andrew Steele had been at his house the previous evening and showed him a backpack containing a police uniform, a police badge, a holster, and a firearm. RP 135, 138, 147, 149-59, 176.

Detective Hoisington went to Mr. Steele's house, spoke on the telephone with his wife, and twice spoke on the telephone with Mr. Steele, after which Mr. Steele agreed to meet in front of a grocery store. RP 30-32, 154-55. Detective Hoisington went to the store with Detective Erik Timothy and he arranged for several marked patrol cars to be in the parking lot. RP 155. Detective Hoisington informed Mr. Steele that locating the stolen items was a "priority" and he asked whether Mr. Steele could show him where to find the items. RP 34-35. Mr. Steele stated he was at a truck stop when he saw an unknown man drop a backpack in a brushy area behind the service station, his curiosity was piqued, he retrieved the backpack, and then returned it to the bushes. RP 54. He then "agreed to accompany" the detectives to the truck stop, and he was searched prior to getting into the back of Detective Timothy's unmarked patrol car. RP 36, 157-58.

During the 10-15 minute drive to the truck stop, Detective Hoisington and Mr. Steele "continu[ed] to have a conversation" about the stolen items. RP 37. At the truck stop, Mr. Steele remained in the car while the detectives took turns searching the brushy area indicated by Mr. Steele, without success. RP 160-61. One of the detectives stayed with Mr. Steele in the car "at all times, and Mr. Steele was not out of the car. RP 38-40, 55.

Following the unsuccessful search, Ms. Steele acquiesced to Detective Hoisington's request that he go to the police station and give a formal statement. RP 161. Mr. Steele was placed in an interview room and, for the first time, he was advised of his Miranda rights, approximately one hour and twenty-five minutes after the meeting in front of the store. RP 45. Mr. Steele gave a formal statement in which he stated that he and Brian Matter went to the truck stop where he saw an unknown man drop a backpack into bushes behind the service station. Ex. 3 at 3-9. Mr. Steele retrieved the backpack, looked in it, and saw a firearm. Ex. 3 at 4, 10. He put the backpack in the car trunk and they drove to James Baldwin's house. Ex. 3 at 11, 14. Mr. Steele showed Mr. Baldwin the backpack and gave him a pair of gloves. Ex. 3 at 12. Mr. Baldwin looked through the backpack and found the officer's badge. Ex. 3 at 12. According to Mr. Steele, Mr. Baldwin and Mr. Matter "started flipping out on me," he and Mr. Matter drove back to the truck stop, and Mr. Steele put the backpack back into the bushes. Ex. 3 at 12, 14.

Mr. Steele was charged with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, possession of a stolen firearm, and third degree possession of stolen property.

Prior to trial, the court held a CrR 3.5 hearing on Mr. Steele's motion to suppress his pre-warning and post-warning statements to the

police. RP 28-87; CP 10-18. After hearing testimony from Detective Hoisington and Mr. Steele, the court concluded the statements were admissible, on the grounds Mr. Steele was not in custody until after he gave a formal statement, was handcuffed, and placed in a holding cell. CP 72 (Conclusion of Law 1). The court further concluded, “Prior to that point, the defendant’s interaction with law enforcement was a voluntary, consensual, and cordial social contact that was free of coercion. CP 72 (Conclusion of Law 2). Finally, the court concluded, “Once advised of his Miranda rights, the defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived those rights and spoke with law enforcement.” CP 72 (Conclusion of Law 3).

Mr. Steele was convicted as charged. CP 28-30. At sentencing, Mr. Steele requested a DOSA. RP 394-86. The court refused to consider the request, on the grounds that “I ... believe that people who have offenders [sic] that exceed nine shouldn’t get the benefits of leniency.” RP 391. Accordingly, the court imposed a standard range sentence on each count, to be served consecutively, as required by statute. CP 55-59, 67-68.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erroneously admitted Mr. Steele's statements elicited during a custodial interrogation without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings, as well his tainted post-warning statement, in violation of the constitutional right against self-incrimination.

- a. Police officers must advise a suspect of his *Miranda* rights prior to subjecting the suspect to a custodial interrogation.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution² and Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution³ guarantee a suspect the right against self-incrimination. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 235, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). The federal and state provisions are given the same interpretation. *Id.* The right against self-incrimination is liberally construed in favor of the suspect. *Id.* at 236 (citing *Hoffman v. United States*, 341 U.S. 479, 486, 71 S.Ct. 814, 95 L.Ed.2d 1118 (1951)).

A suspect must be advised of his right to remain silent prior to any custodial interrogation. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444-45, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). *Miranda* warnings must be given when an interview is a (1) custodial (2) interrogation (3) by a state agent.

² "No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself...."

³ "No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself...."

State v. Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 647, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988). The warnings serve to eliminate both coercion and deception.

The overall concern of our prior cases is with the dual purposes of (1) protecting the individual from the potentiality of compulsion or coercion inherent in in-custody interrogation, and (2) protecting the individual from deceptive practices of interrogation.

State v. Hensler, 109 Wn.2d 357, 362, 745 P.2d 34 (1987) (citing *Heinemann v. Whitman County*, 105 Wn.2d 796, 806, 718 P.2d 789 (1986)).

Whether the interview was a custodial interrogation that required *Miranda* warnings is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997).

- b. Mr. Steele was in custody from the time he met the detectives in front of the store because a reasonable person in his position would not have felt free to terminate the interview.

For purposes of *Miranda*, a suspect is considered “in custody” when he is formally arrested as well as at any time “the defendant’s movement was restricted at the time of questioning.” *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 36, 93 P.3d 133 (2004); accord *California v. Beheler*, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125, 103 S.Ct. 3517, 77 L.Ed.2d 1275 (1983); *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 440, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984). *Miranda* warnings are required whenever the suspect is “in custody or

otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.”
Orozco v. Texas, 394 U.S. 324, 327, 89 S.Ct. 1095, 22 L.Ed.2d 311 (1969)
(quoting *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 477) (emphasis in original); *accord*
Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112, 116 S.Ct. 457, 133 L.Ed.2d 383
(1995). Whether a suspect is “in custody” is determined by the totality of
the circumstances, including whether the suspect was informed that he
was free to leave. *United States v. Craighead*, 539 F.3d 1073, 1082, 1087
(9th Cir. 2008).

Under the totality of circumstances here, Mr. Steele was in custody
and not free to leave the parking lot of his own volition. Prior to the
meeting, Detective Hoisington had reason to believe that Mr. Steele, a
known felon, had been or was in possession of the officer’s stolen firearm.
RP 30. Mr. Steele agreed to meet in the parking lot only after Detective
Hoisington went to his house, spoke on the telephone with his wife, and
twice spoke on the telephone with Mr. Steele, all in a single day. RP 30-
32. Detective Hoisington arrived at the parking lot accompanied by
Detective Erik Timothy, both of whom were in plain clothes with badges
and weapons visible. RP 32-33, 48. In addition to arriving with a second
officer, Detective Hoisington arranged for several marked patrol cars to
“position[] themselves in the neighborhood based on the fact that there
was a firearm involved in the incident.” RP 33, 49-50.

In response to questions by Detective Hoisington, Mr. Steele indicated he would show the detectives where he found the backpack. RP 35, 52. He was then frisked and put in the back of Detective Timothy's unmarked patrol car and driven to the truck stop. RP 36-37, 53. He remained in the back of the patrol car under watch "at all times" as the detectives took turns searching the brushy area indicated by Mr. Steele as the last place he saw the backpack. RP 38-40, 55. When the search proved unsuccessful, Detective Hoisington "asked Mr. Steele if he would be willing to accompany us to Tacoma Police Headquarters and make a formal statement." RP 40. At the police station, Mr. Steele was placed in an interview room and, for the first time, advised of his *Miranda* rights. RP 40-42. Mr. Steele signed a waiver of his rights and gave a formal statement. RP 43-44.

Approximately one hour and twenty-five minutes elapsed from the initial contact in the parking lot until the formal interview. RP 45. He had been met at the store by not just one detective, but two detectives, and he saw the patrol cars positioned in the area. He was frisked prior to getting into Detective Timothy's car and he was watched by a detective at all times during the search of the truck stop. Throughout this time, Mr. Steele was never informed that he did not have to respond to the questioning or that he was free to terminate the interview. RP 56-57, 59-60. "[T]he

absence of police advisement that the suspect is not under formal arrest, or that the suspect is at liberty to decline to answer questions, has been identified as an important indicium of the existence of a custodial setting.” *United States v. Griffin*, 922 F.2d 1343, 1350 (8th Cir. 1990).

Given the officer’s urgency in investigating the stolen firearm and badge and his tip that Mr. Steele had been in possession of the items, it is unreasonable to conclude Detective Hoisington would have allowed Mr. Steele to freely leave the parking lot or refuse to go to the police station. Under these circumstances, Mr. Steele’s freedom of movement was restricted and he was “in custody” for purposes of *Miranda*. The court’s findings and conclusion to the contrary are unsupported by the record.

- c. Mr. Steele was subject to interrogation prior to being advised of his rights, because the detective’s questions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.

Interrogation refers “not only to express questioning, but also to any words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect.” *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980); *accord Sargent*, 111 Wn.2d at 650. Whenever questions are asked that are likely to elicit an incriminating response and are not necessary to serve an

independent purpose, such as booking questions, *Miranda* warnings must be given. *Sargent*, 111 Wn.2d at 652.

The analysis focuses primarily on the suspect's perceptions rather than on the officer's intent. *Innis*, 446 U.S. at 301. The officer's intent, however, is not entirely irrelevant as it may have a bearing on whether the officer should have known his words or actions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. *Id.* at 301-02. For example, in *State v. Collins*, the court found the suspect was subject to interrogation when an officer suggested it would be helpful if they had the weapon used in a shooting. 30 Wn. App. 1, 11, 632 P.2d 68 (1981).

Here, Detective Hoisington admitted he questioned Mr. Steele about the stolen firearm and related items, even before they met in the parking lot. “[W]e had established over the phone, you know, that I thought he knew what we were discussing, and I asked him, you know, it’s a priority that we find these things. Can you show us where these things are?” RP 35-36. At the parking lot, he continued to ask about the missing items. RP 35. During the drive to the truck stop, “[w]e were continuing to have a conversation about, you know, where these items were located. Okay. More specifically, you know, where at the truck stop are they?” RP 37. This “conversation” was overt questioning.

Moreover, Detective Hoisington was asking Mr. Steele to help locate a stolen firearm, the very possession of which was a felony, compounded by the fact that Mr. Steele, as a known felon, was prohibited from possession any firearm. “The relationship of the question asked to the crime suspected is highly relevant.” *State v. Shuffelen*, 150 Wn. App. 244, 257, 208 P.3d 1167 (2009). Detective Hoisington’s questions were clearly intended to elicit incriminating statements without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings.

The post-warning statement was equally inadmissible, as tainted by the pre-warning custodial interrogation. The two-stage “question first, warn second” strategy of police interrogation was expressly denounced in *Missouri v. Seibert*, in which the United States Supreme Court suppressed a post-warning confession obtained after officers elicited an unwarned confession. 542 U.S. 600, 617, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643 (2004). The Court reasoned, “The object of question-first is to render *Miranda* warnings ineffective by waiting for a particularly opportune time to give them, after the suspect has already confessed.” 542 U.S. at 611. The Court continued:

By any objective measure ... it is likely that if the interrogators employ the technique of withholding warnings until after interrogation succeeds in eliciting a confession, the warnings will be ineffective in preparing

the suspect for successive interrogation, close in time and similar in content.

Id. at 613. Similarly here, Detective Hoisington questioned Mr. Steele, without warnings, about the stolen items over a one and one-half hour period of time and then immediately drove him to the police station, at which time he advised Mr. Steele of his rights and then repeated his questions about the stolen items.

Under these circumstances, both Mr. Steele's pre-warning statements and his post-warning formal statement were obtained without meaningful benefit of *Miranda*, and, therefore, inadmissible. The court's findings and conclusion to the contrary are unsupported by the record.

d. The error in admitting Mr. Steele's statements was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Miranda warnings are a constitutional requirement. *Dickerson v. United States*, 530 U.S. 428, 438, 120 S.Ct. 2326, 147 L.Ed.2d 405 (2000). As such, the State bears the burden of proving that admission of statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 292-97, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991); *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). That is, the State must show that admission of Mr. Steele's statements did not contribute to his convictions. *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 296. An error is not harmless if there is a

reasonable possibility that the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not occurred. *Id.* In *Fulminante*, the Court noted that a confession has a profound impact on a jury, and that the “defendant’s own confession is probably the most probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against him.” *Id.* at 296 (quoting *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 139-40, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968)).

One of the primary defense theories was that the lack of evidence to establish Mr. Steele actually possessed the stolen firearm. RP 345-54. Therefore, the State cannot show that Mr. Steele’s incriminating statements did not contribute to his convictions. The admission of Mr. Steele’s statements, obtained in violation his right against self-incrimination was not harmless. Mr. Steele’s convictions for unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm must be reversed.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in categorically refusing to consider a DOSA sentence.

- a. A sentencing court may not categorically refuse to consider a DOSA sentence for an eligible offender.

The DOSA program, RCW 9.94A.660, authorizes a sentencing judge to give eligible non-violent offenders a reduced term of incarceration, substance abuse treatment, and increased supervision, in an

effort to assist those offenders recover from their addictions. *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 337-38, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). The purpose of DOSA is to provide meaningful “treatment-oriented services” and rehabilitation incentives as an alternative to a standard range term of confinement. Laws of 1995, ch. 108; *State v. Kane*, 101 Wn. App. 607, 609, 5 P.3d 741 (2000).

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