A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF
T RRnA

1. Whether the trial court properly admitted the defendant' s

statements to detectives where the defendant was not in

custody when he made those statements. 

2. Whether the sentencing court properly exercised its

discretion in denying Defendant' s motion for a Drug

Offender Sentencing Alternative ( DOSA).

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED

THE DEFENDANT' S STATEMENTS TO

DETECTIVES BECAUSE THE DEFENDANT

WAS NOT IN CUSTODY WHEN HE MADE

THOSE STATEMENTS. 

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, in

part, no person ` shall... be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness

against himself" and applies to the states through the Fourteenth

Amendment. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 235, 922 P. 2d 1285, 1289

1996) ( citing Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U. S. 1, 84 S. Ct. 1489, 12 L. Ed. 2d

653 ( 1964)). 

Similarly, Article I, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution

guarantees that "[ n] o person shall be compelled in any criminal case to

give evidence against himself." Hence, "[ b] oth the United States and

Washington Constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to be

free from self - incrimination, including the right to silence." State v. 

Knapp, 148 Wn. App. 414, 420, 199 P. 3d 505, 508 ( 2009) ( citing U. S. 

Const. amend. V; Wn. Const. art. I, sec. 9). The Washington State

Supreme Court has stated that it " interpret[ s] the two provisions

equivalently." Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 235; State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 

55 -62, 882 P. 2d 747 ( 1994). 
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To give force to the Constitution' s protection against compelled

self - incrimination, the [ United States Supreme] Court established in

Arizona v.] Miranda[, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 ( 1966),] ` certain

procedural safeguards that require police to advise criminal suspects of

their rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments before

commencing custodial interrogation. "' Florida v. Powell, 559 U. S. 50, 

130 S. Ct. 1195 ( 2010) ( quoting Duckworth v. Eagan, 492 U.S. 195, 201, 

109 S. Ct. 2875, 106 L. Ed. 2d 166 ( 1989)); State v Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d

22, 93 P. 3d 133 ( 2004). Specifically, 

Miranda prescribed the following four now - familiar
warnings: 

A suspect] must be warned prior to any questioning [ 1] 
that he has the right to remain silent, [ 2] that anything he
says can be used against him in a court of law, [3] that he

has the right to the presence of an attorney, and [ 4] that if
he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him
prior to any questioning if he so desires." 

Powell (quoting Miranda, 384 U. S. at 479). 

Miranda warnings must be given when a suspect endures ( 1) 

custodial ( 2) interrogation (3) by an agent of the State." State v. Heritage, 

152 Wn.2d 210, 214, 95 P. 3d 345 ( 2004); State v. Grogan, 147 Wn. App. 

511, 516, 195 P. 3d 1017 ( 2008), review granted and case remanded, 168

Wn.2d 1039 ( 2010), reaff'd on reconsideration, 158 Wn. App. 272, 246

P. 3d 196 ( 2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1006 ( 2011) ( quoting State v. 
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Solomon, 114 Wn. App. 781, 787, 60 P. 3d 1215 ( 2002) ( citing State v. 

Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 605, 826 P. 2d 172, 837 P. 2d 599 ( 1992)). 

A defendant is in custody for purposes of Miranda when " a

reasonable person in a suspect' s position would have felt that his for her

freedom was curtailed to the degree associated with a formal arrest." 

Heritage, 152 Wn.2d at 217 -18; Grogan, 147 Wn. App. at 517 ( quoting

Solomon, 114 Wn. App. at 787); Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 

104 S. Ct. 3138, 82 L. Ed. 2d 317 ( 1984). 

Custody is a mixed question of fact and law." Grogan, 147 Wn. 

App. at 517. "` The factual inquiry determines ` the circumstances

surrounding the interrogation, "" and `[ t] he legal inquiry determines, 

given the factual circumstances, whether ` a reasonable person [ would] 

have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and

leave. "" Id. 

Without Miranda warnings, a suspect' s statements during

custodial interrogation are presumed involuntary." Heritage, 152 Wn.2d at

214

F] indings of fact entered following a CrR 3. 5 hearing will be

verities on appeal if unchallenged, and, if challenged, they are verities if

supported by substantial evidence in the record." State v. Broadaway, 133

Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P. 2d 363 ( 1997). "` Substantial evidence is evidence
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sufficient to persuade a fair - minded, rational person of the truth of the

finding. "' State v. Grogan, 147 Wn. App. 511, 516, 195 P. 3d 1017 ( 2008). 

T] he court must determine de novo whether the trial court ` derived

proper conclusions of law' from its findings of fact."' Id. (quoting State v. 

Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P. 2d 1280 ( 1997)). 

In the present case, the defendant argues that the court improperly

found his statements admissible because he contends he " was in custody" 

and " subject to interrogation prior to being advised of [the Miranda

warnings]." Brief of Appellant (BOA), p. 8 - 14. The record shows

otherwise. 

While the defendant may have been subject to questioning which

constituted interrogation under Miranda, see RP 37 -39, he was not in

custody during such questioning, and hence, Miranda warnings were not

required for his otherwise voluntary statements to be admissible. 

This is established by the court' s findings of fact ( 1) through ( 4), 

which the defendant does not challenge here. See BOA, p. 1 - 19. 

In finding of fact ( 1), the court found that when Detective

Hoisington contacted the defendant about the stolen police property and

that "/ t/he defendant voluntarily agreed to meet with the detective at a

Tacoma grocery store parking lot." CP 69 ( emphasis added). 
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In finding of fact (2), the court found that, once he had arrived in

that parking lot, it was the defendant who then initiated the contact with

the detectives, by " call[ ing] the detective to let him know that he was

standing outside in front of the store." CP 70. 

In finding of fact (3), the court found that "/ t/ he defendant

voluntarily agreed to show the detectives where he claimed that he had

last seen the stolen police property that they were looking for." CP 70

emphasis added). 

In finding of fact (5), the court found that "[ a] fter the search was

completed, the detective asked if the defendant would agree to come to the

police station to give a formal taped statement," and that "[ t/he defendant

agreed" to do so." CP 70 ( emphasis added). 

Because none of these findings of fact are challenged here, see

BOA, p. 1 - 19, they are " verities on appeal." Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d at

131. 

Given that the defendant ( 1) voluntarily agreed to meet the

detectives, ( 2) voluntarily agreed to take them to the truck stop where he

had last seen the gun, and ( 3) voluntarily agreed to go to headquarters for

an interview, the defendant was able to go where he chose. 

Hence, his freedom was not curtailed at all, and " a reasonable

person" in his position could not " have felt that his... freedom was
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curtailed to the degree associated with a formal arrest." Heritage, 152

Wn.2d at 217 -18. 

As a result, the defendant was not " in custody for purposes of

Miranda," Id. 

Although the defendant argues that the fact that he " was never

informed that he did not have to respond to questioning" and that he " was

free to terminate the interview" is " an important indicium of the existence

of a custodial setting," BOA, p. 10 -11, the defendant testified, and the

court found in its finding of fact ( 11), that he understood these rights

beforehand. RP 83 -85; CP 71. 

Specifically, the defendant testified that, based on his criminal

history, he understood that he was not required to speak with the

detectives in this case. RP 78 -79. He agreed that he had heard the

Miranda warnings many times before. RP 83 -85. In fact, he specifically

testified that he knew that he had the right to remain silent, that he knew

that anything he said could be used against him, that he knew he had a

right to an attorney, and that he knew that if he could not afford one, one

would be provided to him at public expense. RP 84. 

The defendant testified that he agreed to meet with the detectives

because he was trying to do the right thing and clear the air. RP 79 -81. 

Although he equivocated somewhat on cross - examination, RP 81 - 82, he
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testified that he agreed to show detectives where he had last seen the

pistol. RP 68 -69. Finally, he testified that he understood that he didn' t

have to give a formal statement at the police headquarters, RP 82, and that

he was not handcuffed until after the interview was complete. RP 83. 

Hence, the court' s finding of fact ( 1 1) that the defendant

understood his Miranda " rights even before meeting with law

enforcement that day," CP 71, was " supported by substantial evidence in

the record," Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, and is therefore, a verity on

appeal. 

Although the defendant argues that " it is unreasonable to conclude

Detective Hoisington would have allowed [ him] to freely leave the

parking lot or refuse to go to the police station," BOA, p. 11, there is

nothing in the record to suggest that he would not have or that he felt he

had probable cause to arrest the defendant until after the completion of the

interview at headquarters. 

Rather, the testimony was clear that the defendant agreed to meet

with the detectives because he was trying to do the right thing and clear

the air, RP 79 -81, that he agreed to show them where he placed the items, 

RP 68 -69, and that he agreed to " accompany [ detectives] to Tacoma

Police Headquarters and make a formal statement." RP 40. 
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This testimony supports the court' s unchallenged findings of fact

that that the defendant voluntarily agreed to meet the detectives, 

voluntarily agreed to take them to the truck stop where he had last seen the

gun, and voluntarily agreed to go to headquarters for an interview. CP 69- 

70 ( findings of fact ( 1), ( 3), & ( 5)). 

These findings, which must be considered verities here, confirm

that the defendant was able to go where he chose, and thus, that his

freedom was not curtailed. 

Hence, " a reasonable person" in his position could not " have felt

that his... freedom was curtailed to the degree associated with a formal

arrest," and the defendant was not " in custody for purposes of Miranda." 

Heritage, 152 Wn.2d at 217 -18. 

As a result, the police were not required to give him Miranda

warnings before interrogating him, see, e.g., Heritage, 152 Wn.2d at 214, 

and the court properly found his statements to be admissible. 

Therefore, the trial court' s decision to admit those statements

should be affirmed. 
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2. THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY

EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING

DEFENDANT' S MOTION FOR A DOSA

SENTENCE. 

The Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative or " DOSA" program

authorizes trial judges to give eligible nonviolent drug offenders a

reduced sentence, treatment, and increased supervision in an attempt to

help them recover from their addictions." State v. Grayson. 154 Wn.2d

333, 337, 111 P. 3d 1183 ( 2005) ( citing RCW 9. 94A.660). " Under a

DOSA sentence, the defendant serves only about one -half of a standard

range sentence in prison and receives substance abuse treatment while

incarcerated." Grayson. 154 Wn.2d at 337 -38. See RCW 9. 94A.662

prison -based DOSA). Compare RCW 9. 94A.664 ( residential chemical

dependency treatment alternative). After prison, " he or she is released into

closely monitored community supervision and treatment for the balance of

the sentence." Id. at 338; RCW 9.94A.662. 

A defendant is eligible for DOSA if: 

a) The offender is convicted of a felony that is not
a violent offense or sex offense and the violation does not

involve a sentence enhancement under RCW 9.94A. 533( 3) 

or ( 4); 

b) The offender is convicted of a felony that is not
a felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating
liquor or any drug under RCW 46. 61. 502( 6) or felony
physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of

intoxicating liquor or any drug under RCW 46. 61. 504( 6); 
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c) The offender has no current or prior convictions

for a sex offense at any time or violent offense within ten
years before conviction of the current offense, in this state, 

another state, or the United States; 

d) For a violation of the Uniform Controlled

Substances Act under chapter 69.50 RCW or a criminal

solicitation to commit such a violation under chapter 9A.28

RCW, the offense involved only a small quantity of the
particular controlled substance as determined by the judge
upon consideration of such factors as the weight, purity, 
packaging, sale price, and street value of the controlled
substance. 

e) The offender has not been found by the United
States attorney general to be subject to a deportation
detainer or order and does not become subject to a

deportation order during the period of the sentence; 
f) The end of the standard sentence range for the

current offense is greater than one year; and

g) The offender has not received a drug offender
sentencing alternative more than once in the prior ten years
before the current offense. 

RCW 9. 94A.660( 1). 

Nevertheless, to grant a DOSA, the court must not only find that

the offender is eligible but also " that the alternative sentence is

appropriate." RCW 9. 94A.660( 3). It must therefore decide " whether a

DOSA will benefit both the offender and the community." State v. White, 

123 Wn. App. 106, 114, 97 P. 3d 34 ( 2004). 

W] hether to give a DOSA is a decision left to the discretion of

the trial judge, and [ an appellate court' s] review of that exercise of

discretion is limited." Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at 335. "[ A] trial court abuses

its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon
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untenable grounds or reasons." State v. White, 123 Wn. App. 106, 114, 97

P. 3d 34 ( 2004) ( citing State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P. 2d

1239 ( 1997)). In other words, a sentencing " court abuses its discretion

when it can be said no reasonable person would adopt the trial court's

view." White, 123 Wn. App. at 114. 

Although, "[ a] criminal defendant may not appeal a trial court' s

decision to impose a standard -range sentence instead of the Drug Offender

Sentencing Alternative under RCW 9. 94A.660." State v. Jones, 171 Wn. 

App. 52, 55, 286 P. 3d 83 ( 2012), "` every defendant is entitled to ask the

trial court to consider such a sentence and to have the alternative actually

considered. "' Jones, 171 Wn. App. at 55 ( quoting Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at

342. 

Thus, " while the SRA vests broad discretion in the hands of the

trial judge, the trial judge must still exercise this discretion in conformity

with the law." Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at 335. Hence, " where a defendant has

requested a sentencing alternative authorized by statute, the categorical

refusal to consider the sentence, or the refusal to consider it for a class of

offenders, is effectively a failure to exercise discretion and is subject to

reversal." Id. at 342; Jones, 171 Wn. App. at 55. However, a decision not

to grant a DOSA based on " infractions and an instance of drug abuse in

prison occurring after [ a defendant' s] completion of a treatment program" 
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cannot be considered " manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable

grounds or reasons." White, 123 Wn. App. at 114 -15. 

The remedy for an abuse of discretion in sentencing is vacation of

the sentence and remand for resentencing. See Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at

343. 

In the present case, the defendant claims that "[ t] he court abused its

discretion" by " categorically refus[ ing] to consider imposition of a DOSA

for any defendant with an offender score above ` 9,' regardless of

eligibility." BOA, p. 17 - 18. The record shows otherwise. 

In asking the court to grant a DOSA, the defendant' s attorney

stated that the defendant " ha[ d] a significant problem with alcohol and/ or

drugs." RP 384 -88. 

However, the deputy prosecutor also informed the court that the

defendant had been under Department of Corrections supervision for nine

and a half of the eleven years before his arrest in this case, and that he had

already, " over and over and over" again, been given both in- patient and

out - patient drug treatment opportunities. RP 3 83. 

In considering whether to grant a DOSA, the court reviewed notes

from the defendant' s previous two cases, including a 2007 conviction after

which the defendant had also asked for a DOSA. RP 387 -88. The court

then made the following statement in denying a DOSA in this case: 
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Well, everyone has a sort of personal creed that they
need to follow. I have a creed that I believe people can

change you, but I also believe that people who have

offenders [ sic] that exceed nine shouldn' t get the benefits

of leniency. Mr. Steele knew what his issues were. He
knew when he askedfor the last DOSA that ifhe didn' t
change his ways, and specifically the examiner said ifhe
doesn' t stop hanging with people that get him to use once
again and cause him to relapse, he' ll be right back in the

system. Those were prophetic words in 2007 when they
were spoken. 

With an offender score [ of] nine plus, ifyou want to
be an addict andyou want to use, then you need to find a

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